# FILE COPY

## DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA No. 19-0298

PATRICK MORRISEY, in his official capacity as West Virginia Attorney General, and the STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Defendants below, Petitioners,

v.



Plaintiffs below, Respondents.

#### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- I. The circuit court erred in concluding that the Workplace Freedom Act infringes, violates, or abrogates the right of free association.
- II. The circuit court erred in concluding that the Workplace Freedom Act infringes, violates, or abrogates the prohibition on takings without due process and just compensation.
- III. The circuit court erred in concluding that the Workplace Freedom Act infringes, violates, or abrogates the prohibition against arbitrary restraints on liberty.
- IV. The circuit court erred in not giving sufficient weight to the comprehensive scheme governing labor relations under federal law, including an express reservation to the States protecting their ability to enact right-to-work statutes.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Two years ago, this Court dissolved a preliminary injunction enjoining enforcement of the same statute at the heart of this case—the Workplace Freedom Act, West Virginia Code § 21-5G-1 et seq. ("the Act")—because Respondents "failed to show a likelihood of success in their legal challenge to the [Act's] constitutionality." *Morrisey v. W. Va. AFL-CIO*, 239 W. Va. 633, 637, 804 S.E.2d 883, 887 (2017). Even though over two dozen States have right-to-work laws like the Act, Respondents could not advance "any federal or state appellate court that, in over seven decades, has struck down such a law"—and this Court found no other basis on which Respondents were likely to prevail, either. *Id.* In fact, one member of this Court characterized the majority's published decision as "so completely resolv[ing] the underlying constitutional issues" that remand was "nothing but a perfunctory exercise." *Id.* at 646, 804 S.E.2d at 896 (Workman, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part).

Respondents did not amend their complaint, develop new evidence, or advance any new legal theories after this Court's decision. There was likewise no new briefing on remand, and the circuit court did not conduct another hearing on Respondents' constitutional claims. Despite this unchanged record, however, the circuit court enjoined vital portions of the Act again—this time permanently—in a decision that all-but ignores this Court's decision. Reversal is warranted on this basis alone. Further, even if the circuit court had been writing on a blank slate instead of striking out this Court's prior holding, the reality is that the theories Respondents advanced two years ago have not improved with age. If anything, recent legal developments confirm the wisdom of the Court's initial decision. Kentucky has joined the growing number of States that have enacted laws like the Act, and last year its high court rejected a challenge very similar to Respondents' here. See generally Zuckerman v. Bevin, 565 S.W.3d 580 (Ky. 2018). In the public-sector union context, the Supreme Court of the United States explained that laws shielding employees from compulsory union fees protect important associational freedoms. Janus v. Am. Federation of State, County & Municipal Employees, Council 31, 138 S. Ct. 2448 (2018). And despite predictions to the contrary, recent empirical studies show that public-sector union membership has increased since that decision came down.

This Court should finish what it started two years ago by reversing the circuit court again, and making clear that the Act is constitutional.

## I. Legal Background

A. Both federal and West Virginia law provide that employees have the right to "bargain collectively through representatives of their own choosing." 29 U.S.C. § 157; see W. Va. Code § 21-1A-3. For over 80 years, federal law has provided a detailed and balanced regulatory framework building out this right. It protects unions' ability to operate and advocate for employees

on the one hand, while making them subject, on the other hand, to certain terms and conditions designed to respect the rights of employees and employers during union elections and labor negotiations.

When seeking to represent a group of employees, unions may choose to organize as either an exclusive agency union or a members-only union. That choice bears certain costs and benefits.

Unions that take the former approach gain the valuable right to act as the exclusive agent of the employee unit when negotiating with management. To form such an exclusive agency union, a "majority of employees" in a bargaining unit must designate a union as a representative. 29 U.S.C. § 159(a); W. Va. Code § 21-1A-5(a). A union's decision to stand for election as an exclusive agent, rather than operate as a members-only union, is voluntary. *See United Steel, Paper & Forestry, Rubber, Mfg., Energy, Allied Indus. & Serv. Workers Int'l Union, AFL-CIO, CLC v. Ky. W. Va. Gas Co., LLC*, 795 F. Supp. 2d 596, 600 (E.D. Ky. 2011) (citations omitted). And even after election, a union may stop acting as exclusive representative at any time "by unequivocally and in good faith disclaiming further interest in representing the unit." *Dycus v. NLRB*, 615 F.2d 820, 826 (9th Cir. 1980).

Federal law confers a weighty "set of powers and benefits" on these exclusive agency unions. *Int'l Ass'n of Machinists Dist. 10 & Its Local Lodge 1061 v. State*, 903 N.W.2d 141, 146 (Wis. 2017) (citing *Steele v. Louisville & N. R. Co.*, 323 U.S. 192 (1944)). An exclusive agency union acts as the sole representative of employees in the unit—whether members or nonmembers—"in respect to rates of pay, wages, hours of employment, or other conditions of employment." 29 U.S.C. § 159(a). And federal law requires employers to bargain in good faith with an exclusive agency union. *Id.* § 158(a)(5); *see also id.* § 158(b)(3) (requiring exclusive agency unions to negotiate in good faith with employers).

These federally created powers "result[] in a tremendous increase in the power of the representative of the group—the union." *Am. Commc 'n Ass 'n v. Douds*, 339 U.S. 382, 401 (1950). An exclusive agency union wields authority "comparable to th[at] possessed by a legislative body both to create and restrict the rights of those whom it represents." *Steele*, 323 U.S. at 202 (citation omitted). That power extends even to the ability to set the terms and conditions of employment of workers within the bargaining unit who opt *not* to become union members. *See Wallace Corp. v. NLRB*, 323 U.S. 248, 255 (1955).

These benefits, however, also carry costs. Because federal law provides enormous power for unions to act on behalf of the employees they represent, it also imposes a statutory duty to represent all employees fairly—even nonmembers. *See, e.g., Int'l Ass'n of Machinists v. Street,* 367 U.S. 740, 761 (1961); *Vaca v. Sipes,* 386 U.S. 171, 181-82 (1967). The Supreme Court of the United States has explained that if the law conferred the power of exclusive representation "without any commensurate statutory duty toward its members," then "constitutional questions [would] arise." *Steele,* 323 U.S. at 198. Since the dawn of federal labor law, then, exclusive agency unions have accepted the duty of fair representation as a statutory responsibility in exchange for the benefits that flow from exclusive representation.

A union that wishes to forgo these costs—and the corresponding benefits—can decide instead that it wishes to represent only union members. "Members only" contract terms "have long been recognized." *Retail Clerks Int'l Ass'n v. Lion Dry Goods*, 369 U.S. 17, 29 (1962). Under this system a union can represent and bargain on behalf of its members, but not any nonmembers who are part of the same employee unit.

**B**. Federal law also reserves to the States the power to prohibit labor contracts that require employees to be members of exclusive agency unions on pain of losing their jobs. Although

employers may generally enter into "an agreement with a labor organization . . . to require as a condition of employment membership therein," 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(3), federal law also makes clear that agreements like these may be "prohibited by State . . . law," *id.* § 164(b). In other words, federal law permits private "agency-shop arrangements," but States have power to "ban" them within their borders. *Davenport v. Wash. Educ. Ass'n*, 551 U.S. 177, 190 n.3 (2007).

This reserved power allows States the discretion not only to prohibit contracts requiring employees to *join* an exclusive agency union, but those that require employees to *subsidize* them as well. As used in 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(3), the idea of "membership" "as a condition of employment"—the language permitting agency-shop arrangements—has been "whittled down to its financial core." *NLRB v. Gen. Motors Corp.*, 373 U.S. 734, 742 (1963). This "financial core" includes payments "germane to collective bargaining, contract administration, and grievance adjustment." *Commc 'ns Workers of Am. v. Beck*, 487 U.S. 735, 745 (1988). The Court has also recognized that the term "membership" has the same meaning under 29 U.S.C. § 164(b), which authorizes States to forbid agency-shop arrangements through right-to-work laws. *See Retail Clerks Int'l Ass'n v. Schermerhorn*, 373 U.S. 746, 751 (1963).

The legislative history of the 1947 Taft-Hartley Act, which clarified the reserved authority of the States to ban compulsory union membership, confirms this broad understanding of "membership" to include all compulsory agency fees. At the time, several States already had right-to-work laws that prohibited compulsory fees. *Sweeney v. Pence*, 767 F.3d 654, 662 (7th Cir. 2014). "The House report listed each state which had passed a right-to-work law or constitutional provision" that Taft-Hartley was intended to affirm. *Int'l Union of the United Ass'n of Journeymen and Apprentices of the Plumbing and Pipefitting Indus. of the U.S. and Canada, Locals Unions Nos. 141, 229, 681 and 706 v. NLRB*, 675 F.2d 1257, 1260 (D.C. Cir. 1982) (citing H. R. Rep. No.

245, 80th Cong., 1st Sess. 34, *reprinted at* I Legislative History of the Labor Management Relations Act of 1947, 324 (1948)). Congress was "well aware" that 7 of those 12 state laws included explicit bans on compulsory agency fees, and "the stated purpose of [29 U.S.C. § 164(b)] was to preserve the efficacy of laws like these—statutes that allowed states to place restrictions of their choosing on union-security agreements, including restrictions on whether employees could be compelled to pay dues or fees of *any kind* to a union." *Sweeney*, 767 F.3d at 663 (emphasis added).

Thus, "a union's status as exclusive bargaining agent and the right to collect an agency fee from non-members are not inextricably linked." *Harris v. Quinn*, 573 U.S. 616, 649 (2014). Under federal law, States can decide whether to allow employers and unions to negotiate for provisions that would compel nonmember employees to pay agency fees. When unions adopt an exclusive agency model, they do so knowing that federal law requires as a nonwaivable condition of exclusive agency that they represent both members and nonmembers fairly, *and* that certain States may limit their ability to collect fees from nonmembers.

C. In 2018—after this Court reversed the circuit court's preliminary injunction—the Supreme Court of the United States decided *Janus*. In *Janus*, the Court affirmed the right of public-sector employees to refuse to pay agency fees. Specifically, the Court overruled four-plus decades of precedent to hold that unions and public employers may not force nonmembers to pay agency fees. *Janus*, 138 S. Ct. at 2465-78. *Janus* was limited on its facts to the public-sector union context, but its rationale has broader implications: The Court explained that forcing employees to pay agency fees constitutes constitutionally impermissible compelled speech, *id.* at 2463-65, and rejected the argument that the ability to collect agency fees is necessary for an

exclusive agency union to be able to fulfill its legal obligation to fairly represent nonmembers, *id.* at 2467.

#### II. The Workplace Freedom Act

Joining 27 other States that had enacted right-to-work laws, the West Virginia Legislature passed Senate Bill 1, now codified at West Virginia Code §§ 21-1A-3, 21-1A-4 and 21-5G-1 to -7, on February 5, 2016. After Governor Tomblin vetoed the Act, the Legislature overrode the veto on February 12, 2016. The Act applies only to agreements entered into, modified, renewed, or extended after July 1, 2016. *See* W. Va. Code § 21-5G-7(b).

Creating a new article of the West Virginia Code titled the West Virginia Workplace Freedom Act—West Virginia Code Chapter 21, Article 5G—the Act's key provision provides that a person may not be required to "[b]ecome or remain a member of a labor organization; [p]ay any dues, fees, assessments or other similar charges, however denominated, of any kind or amount to any labor organization; or [p]ay any charity or third party, in lieu of those payments, any amount that is equivalent to a *pro rata* portion of dues, fees, assessments or other charges required of members of a labor organization." W. Va. Code § 21-5G-2. The Act also bars "[a]ny agreement, understanding or practice . . . between any labor organization and an employer . . . which provides for the exclusion from employment of any person because of membership in, affiliation with, resignation from or refusal to join or affiliate with any labor organization," and provides both civil and criminal penalties for noncompliance. W. Va. Code § 21-5G-3, 4, 5.

The Act also amended the preexisting Labor-Management Relations Act for the Private Sector to provide similar protections for a right not to pay compulsory union fees. *See* W. Va. Code § 21-1A-3. These amendments also make it an unfair labor practice for a labor organization

to interfere with the exercise of this right. W. Va. Code § 21-1A-4(b)(1). A violation of these protections may be enforced through a civil suit. W. Va. Code § 21-1A-7(b).

These provisions of the Act track similar provisions in most right-to-work laws across the country.<sup>1</sup>

In 2017, the Legislature amended the Act to eliminate the statute's definition of the word "State" and to remove a provision relating to the Act's application to the construction and building industries.<sup>2</sup> As the circuit court recognized, A.R. 67-68, this amendment rendered moot part of Respondents' claims below.

#### III. Procedural Background

A. Respondents—plaintiffs below, including several organized labor organizations—filed a complaint challenging the Act four days before its July 1, 2016 effective date. A.R. 752. Respondents named as defendants the State of West Virginia, the Governor, and the Kanawha County Prosecuting Attorney, who was later dismissed as a defendant. A.R. 710. Along with their complaint, Respondents filed a motion for a preliminary injunction. A.R. 728. Respondents claimed that the Act infringes on their liberty and freedom of association and takes property without just compensation in violation of the West Virginia Constitution. The Attorney General

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Ala. Code § 25-7-34; Ark. Code § 11-3-303; Ga. Code § 34-6-22; Idaho Code § 44-2003; Indiana Code § 22-6-6-8; Iowa Code § 731.4; Ky. Rev. Stat. § 336.130(3); 23 La. Rev. Stat. § 983; Mich. Comp. Laws § 423.14; Miss. Code § 71-1-47(d); Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-217; N.C. Gen. Stat. § 95-81–95-82; Okla. Const. art. 23, § 1A(B); S.C. Code § 41-7-30; Tenn. Code § 50-1-203; Tex. Labor Code § 101.111; Utah Code § 34-34-10; Va. Code § 40.1-62; Wis. Stat. § 111.04(3)(a); Wyo. Stat. § 27-7-111; see also Ariz. Const. art. XXV; Fla. Const. art. I, § 6; Kan. Const. art. 15, § 12; Nev. Rev. Stat. § 613.130; N.D. Cent. Code § 34.01.14; S.D. Const. art. VI, § 2; Va. Code § 40.1-58 et seq. Missouri also had a right-to-work law, but it has since been repealed. See Scott Neuman, Missouri Blocks Right-To-Work Law, NPR (Aug. 8, 2018), available at https://www.npr.org/2018/08/08/636568530/missouri-blocks-right-to-work-law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See 2017 W. Va. Acts 1211.

intervened on behalf of the State of West Virginia (collectively, "the State") and opposed the motion for a preliminary injunction.

At the preliminary injunction hearing on August 10, 2016, Respondents presented a single witness: Ken Hall, president of Teamsters Local 175 and General Secretary of the International Brotherhood of Teamsters. He produced no empirical evidence that the Act would cause Respondents any cognizable harm. Instead, Hall testified that he had instructed the bookkeeper of Teamsters Local 175 to prepare a document showing that the Act could theoretically cause loss of revenue because of a decrease in union membership of up to 20 percent. A.R. 546-47. But Hall conceded that he merely borrowed that number from a report that a third party prepared for the Legislature as part of its consideration of the Act. He did not independently corroborate it or otherwise explain how its projections applied to these specific Respondents. A.R. 586-87. Hall further testified that Respondents "have some" collective bargaining agreements "that are in the process of being renegotiated or have just been renegotiated," but he provided no other evidence of collective bargaining agreements that the Act might cover. A.R. 593.

After the close of testimony the circuit court announced its intention to issue an injunction that would apply statewide and delay the effective date of the Act, but it did not issue an order for several months. Meanwhile, the parties filed and briefed cross-motions for summary judgment, and the circuit court heard argument on the cross-motions on December 2, 2016. A.R. 534. After the State informed the circuit court that it intended to petition for an extraordinary writ in this Court if it failed to rule on the still-pending preliminary injunction motion, A.R. 530, the circuit court issued an order granting Respondents a preliminary injunction on February 23, 2017. A.R 513. The circuit court later issued a superseding and final preliminary injunction. A.R. 498; *see* 

also W. Va. AFL-CIO v. Tomblin, 2017 WL 2304492 (W. Va. Cir. Ct. Feb. 24, 2017). The State appealed that order to this Court.

**B**. This Court reversed the circuit court's order granting the preliminary injunction on September 15, 2017. *Morrisey*, 239 W. Va. 633, 804 S.E.2d 883. Focusing primarily on the standard relevant to a preliminary injunction—whether Respondents were likely to succeed on the merits of their lawsuit—the Court held that they were unlikely to succeed on any of their claims.

First, this Court rejected Respondents' argument that the Act infringes on their ability to freely associate with members and nonmembers. The Court explained that "nothing in [the Act] prevents a person from making a voluntary choice to associate with a union or to pay union dues."

Morrisey, 239 W. Va. at 640, 804 S.E.2d at 890. The Court also emphasized that Respondents' associational freedom argument was "nearly identical to one rejected by the Supreme Court almost seven decades ago." Id.

Second, this Court rejected Respondents' argument that the Act constitutes a taking without just compensation to the extent that it would require unions to expend funds to represent nonmembers. The Court determined that the Act did "not affect existing contracts" because it applied prospectively and because Respondents do not have a constitutionally protected property interest in a unilateral expectation of agency fees; thus, Respondents "have no protected property right that the Legislature has taken through the adoption of [the Act]." Morrisey, 239 W. Va. at 642, 804 S.E.2d at 892.

Third, the Court held Respondents did not establish that the Act infringes on any protected liberty interests in not conducting work on behalf of nonmembers. The Court explained that Respondents "failed to show that any other appellate court in this country has adopted a similar

argument to strike down a similar right to work law." *Morrisey*, 239 W. Va. at 642, 804 S.E.2d at 892.

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