FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 19-0298

PATRICK MORRISEY, et al.,

Petitioners,

VS.

WEST VIRGINIA AFL-CIO, et al.,

Respondents.

BRIEF FOR RESPONDENTS

Vincent Trivelli (WV Bar # 8015) The Law Office of Vincent Trivelli 178 Chancery Row Morgantown, W. Va. 26505 (304) 291-5223 vmtriv@westco.net

Robert M. Bastress (WV Bar # 263) P.O. Box 1295 Morgantown, W.Va. 26507-1295 (304) 319-0860 rmbastress@gmail.com

Counsel for Plaintiffs

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

The foregoing federal cases provide a floor for interpretation of the Article III protections in §§ 7 and 16, and this Court has stated that "the West Virginia Constitution offers limitations on the power of the state" to curtail the rights of association and speech "more stringent than those imposed on the states by the Constitution of the United States." *Pushinsky, supra*, 164 W. Va. at 745, 266 S.E.2d at 449; *accord, West Virginia Citizens Action Group v. Daley*, 174 W. Va. 299,

311, 324 S.E.2d 713, 725 (1984); see also Woodruff v. Board of Trustees, 173 W. Va. 604, 319 S.E.2d 372 (1984).

Application of the foregoing principles to the WFA – to its prohibition of agency fees in § 21-5G-2(2) and to its penalties in §§ 21-5G-4 to -6 for entering into contracts containing them – reveals that the Act unnecessarily and unconstitutionally imposes an excessive burden on plaintiffs' associational rights.

Membership is obviously the lifeblood of any labor organization. Members' dues provide unions with nearly all of their revenues for operating expenses, (PI Tr. 15-16, A.R. 548-549; PI Exs. 1 & 2, A.R.650-651) and members' commitment and participation give the organizations their capacity to represent workers effectively in dealing with employers. The WFA will seriously hamper the unions' ability to recruit new members and retain old ones. (PI Ex. 6 at 29, A.R. 693; Affidavit of Curt Koegen, A.R. 487-496). As explained above, both federal and state law requires that a union must fairly represent all workers in the collective bargaining unit, including those who are not members of the union. That duty is a corollary of the conferral in 29 U.S.C. § 159 and W. Va. Code § 21-1A-5 on the union of the status as the employees' exclusive agent; that is, if the law bestows exclusive powers on a private organization, then that organization must adhere to equal protection principles. E.g., Vaca v. Sipes, 386 U.S. 171 (1967); Steele v. Louisville & Nashville Railroad Co., 323 U.S. 192 (1944). Those principles forbid union discrimination against nonmembers and against persons who do not support the union's political and ideological messages. If unions cannot exact agency fees, employees would be able to receive, without any cost to them, the full benefit of the union's services in negotiating and administering the contract. And if workers can get those services for free, they would have no incentive to join the union or remain a member. Id. In fact, those who do join or stay in a union pay a penalty for the privilege because their dues would have to be enlarged to underwrite the union's services provided to the free riders. (PI Tr. 15-17, A.R. 548-550; PI Exs. 1 & 2, A.R. 65-651; Affidavit of Curt Koegen, A.R. 487-496).

This double whammy on unions' associational rights imposes every bit as much of a burden on their ability to recruit and retain members as did the disclosure requirements in the NAACP cases and hinders the unions' effectiveness as much as the restrictions in *Button* and *UMWA v. Illinois Bar Association*. It must be remembered that, "even though the governmental purpose be legitimate and substantial, that purpose cannot be pursued by means that broadly stifle fundamental personal liberties when the end can be more narrowly achieved. The breadth of legislative abridgment must be viewed in the light of less drastic means for achieving the same basic purpose." *Shelton*, 364 U.S. at 488. "Precision of regulation must be the touchstone in an area so closely touching our most precious freedoms." *Button*, 371 at 438.

In this case, West Virginia clearly has legitimate and substantial interests in protecting workers from being forced to support political and ideological messages with which they disagree or to join an organization they do not support. Those interests, however, can be, and have been, fully accomplished without taking the additional steps of prohibiting agency fees, giving free riders something for nothing, and gutting labor unions. Federal law already requires unions to reimburse its members working under union shop contracts for that portion of their dues spent on advocacy of causes with which they disagree. *E.g., Communications Workers of America v. Beck*, 487 U.S. 735 (1989); *Chicago Teachers Union v. Hudson*, 475 U.S. 292 (1986). So, a ban on agency fees does nothing to further the State's concern about forced advocacy or association. In addition, West Virginia has taken the option offered by 29 U.S.C. § 164(b) and banned union shop contracts. *See* S.B.1's Amendment to W. Va. Code § 21-1A-4(a)(3). That completely vindicates the State's

concern about forced association. West Virginia, however, has gone beyond that step and has tacked on bans on agency fees.

Indeed, the *only* things that the agency fee ban accomplishes beyond what these less drastic means already effect are to impose a significant burden on unions to recruit and retain members and to penalize individuals who do join unions. Those are not, however, legitimate purposes that can co-exist with Article III, §§ 7 and 16's protections for the freedoms of speech and association. *Thomas v. Collins, supra; Pushinksky, supra.*

The Attorney General responds by reliance on a series of recent Supreme Court decisions that struck down as First Amendment violations state laws and public contracts that required public employees represented by a public sector union to pay agency fees. Petitioner's Brief at 19-20, citing Janus v. AFSCME. Council 31, ____ U.S. ____, 138 S.Ct. 2448 (2018); Knox v. Service Employees Int'l Union, Local 1000, 567 U.S. 298 (2012). Those cases, however, are not controlling here. First, the cases necessarily involved government-compelled exactions to support union expression on matters relating to public collective bargaining agreements. The contracts prohibited by the WFA relate solely to private sector contracts. By definition public sector agreements involve state action and are thus limited by the First Amendment. By definition, the private sector agreements affected by the WFA do not. Second, the theme of the Janus and Knox cases was that public sector union bargaining over contract negotiation and administration

_

⁹ The Attorney General has cited to *Lincoln Federal Labor Union v. Northwestern Iron & Metal Company*, 335 U.S. 525 (1949), which upheld right to work laws in Nebraska and North Carolina. The laws at issue in that case, however, were quite different from the West Virginia law challenged here and did not include a ban on contracts that impose agency fees. *Id.* at 528-29, nn. 1-2. The case thus did not address the central issue in this case: whether prohibiting contracts that require agency fees (and no more) is consistent with the freedoms of association and from uncompensated takings. *Lincoln Federal* was also decided well before the associational rights cases relied upon by the plaintiffs were decided and did not address the takings question (no doubt because the laws in that case did not amount to a taking).

unavoidably implicate major considerations of public policy and concern, such as government spending and taxing priorities, educational policy, and the provision of government services. E.g., Janus, 138 S.Ct. at 2473-75. Consequently, the compulsory fees to support the public sector unions' advocacy in contract negotiation and administration had major political and ideological implications. That is not the case with contracts in the private sector.

The AG also cites in support of its appeal the Supreme Court's opinion in *Davenport v. Washington Education Association*, 551 U.S. 177, 185 (2007), for the proposition that "unions have no constitutional entitlement to the *fees* of nonmember-employees." Petitioner's Brief at 19 (emphasis supplied by the AG). *Davenport* is also unavailing for the AG. First, the "fees" at issue in that case were those that supported the union's electoral/political activities, which since *Communications Workers of America v. Beck*, 487 U.S. 735 (1988), have required employee consent for their imposition and are not at issue in this case. Second, the respondent unions do not argue that they have a constitutional entitlement to employees' fees. Rather, they argue that the State cannot prohibit them from entering into agreements in which they contract for the payment of services actually provided. The difference between those two positions is enormous.

IV. THE WORKPLACE FREEDOM ACT EFFECTS AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNCOMPENSATED TAKING OF PLAINTIFFS' PROPERTY.

As explained above, federal and state laws require unions to provide equal services and representation to all members of the collective bargaining unit. If allowed to take effect, the WFA will prohibit unions and employers from assessing nonmembers of the union for any services that the union provides to the bargaining unit, including those provided to the nonmembers. It costs money to negotiate and administer a contract. Union officials have to be paid, union representatives have to be paid, union lawyers have to be paid, union staff have to be paid, accountants have to be paid, grievances and arbitrations have to be paid for, as do all the expenses

(rent/mortgage, supplies, equipment, etc.) of running an office. Union dollars, almost totally reliant upon members' dues, have to pay for all of that. Prohibiting a union from collecting appropriate fees from nonmembers effects a taking of property; it takes money from the union, and derivatively from its members, and essentially gives it to the free riders. (PI Tr. 15-17, A.R. 548-550; PI Exs. 1 & 2, A.R. 650-651; Affidavit of Curt Koegen, A.R. 487-496). The Act therefore violates Article III, § 9 of the West Virginia Constitution, which provides that "[p]rivate property shall not be taken or damaged for public use without just compensation."

Recent decisions confirm the intuitive sense that requiring a private citizen or entity to give money to another private citizen is a taking. Phillips v. Legal Foundation of Washington, 524 U.S. 156 (1998), confronted a takings challenge to a state's practice of using the interest generated by lawyers' trust accounts (IOLTA) for the support of legal services for the poor. The Court held that the interest on the accounts was the private property of the persons owning the principal. Brown v. Legal Foundation of Washington, 538 U.S. 216 (2003), then held that those persons had suffered a taking of their property – their money – for public use when it was paid into the state account. Accord, Calder v. Bull, 3 U.S. (3 Dallas) 386, 388 (1798) (Chase, J., concurring) (the Constitution should not tolerate "a law . . . that takes property from A. and gives it to B."). No compensation was due in *Brown*, however, because net losses could not be proved. That is not the case with the WFA. The union's losses are easily calculable: in fact, current law requires unions to calculate annually what is the *pro rata* share of union expenditures that is devoted to contract negotiation. administration, and other workplace services and that share spent on external speech. Hudson, supra. The amount spent on bargaining unit work would be the value bestowed upon each free rider under the WFA, and that amount times the number of free riders in the collective bargaining unit will constitute the net losses of the unions and its members.

One's labor is one's property. Other states have reached a consensus that labor performed for money is property. The Supreme Court of Alaska, for example, has held:

[E]xcluding personal services from the [takings] clause's provisions is manifestly unreasonable. It has long been recognized that "labor is property". The laborer ha[s] the same right to sell his labor, and to contract with reference thereto, as any other property owner.

DeLisio v. Alaska Superior Court, 740 P.2d 437, 440-43 (Alaska 1987) (citing as support authorities from Kansas, Indiana, Missouri, Utah, and the English common law¹⁰); see also McNabb v. Osmundson, 315 N.W.2d 9, 22-23 (Iowa 1982) (the right of reasonable compensation for services "was described as complete, without further legislative enactment, and a fundamental rule of right, foundationed on the constitutional mandate that private property shall not be taken without just compensation"); Sudberry v. Royal & Sun Alliance, 2006 WL 2091386 (Tenn. Ct. App. 7/27/2006) (an individual "has a property interest in his labor"); County of Dane v. Smith, 13 Wis. 585, 587-89 (1861) (the State cannot "command the time and services of the citizen . . . and then say that he shall receive no pay for them").

The West Virginia Supreme Court has aligned Article III, § 9 law with these principles. Both *Jewell v. Maynard*, 181 W. Va. 571, 383 S.E.2d 536 (1989), and *State ex rel. Partain v. Oakley*, 159 W. Va. 805, 227 S.E.2d 314 (1976), held that forcing lawyers to represent criminal defendants at a rate that did not allow them at least some profit was a taking of their property without just compensation. A lawyer's time, the Court recognized, is her livelihood, her bread and butter, and forcing her to expend that time without adequate remuneration deprives her of a

¹⁰ The cited cases included *State ex rel. Scott v. Roper*, 688 S.W.2d 757 (Mo.1985) (en banc); *Ruckenbrod v. Mullins*, 102 Utah 548, 133 P.2d 325 (1943); *Coffeyville Vitrified Brick & Tile v. Perry*, 69 Kan. 297, 76 P. 848 (1904); and *Webb v. Baird*, 6 Ind. 13 (1854).

tangible asset. The Court in those cases did concede that a lawyer's professional obligation as an officer of the court might confer some power on the State to impose on lawyer's time, *see* Code of Professional Responsibility Rule 6.1 (lawyer's duty to provide *pro bono* service), but that qualification has no application to unions¹¹.

Finally, the AG contends (Petitioners' Brief at p. 32) that the benefits of exclusive bargaining agent status conferred on unions by § 9 (29 U.S.C. § 159) provide adequate compensation for any costs the unions incur by providing uncompensated services to free loaders. There are several responses to that contention. First, no evidence in the record supports that sweeping assertion. Second, while the costs of unions' contract negotiation and administration are discernible – and, indeed, are calculated annually pursuant to the Supreme Court's decision in *Communications Workers v. Beck* the value of exclusivity's benefits is not reducible to a calculable amount. Third, and most importantly, although election as the exclusive bargaining agent enables a union to force an employer to the table and to exercise *some* leverage at the table, it also carries with it responsibilities and limitations that diminish the benefit. Those include not only adherence to the duty of fair representation but also the constraints and duties imposed by § 8(b), 29 U.S.C. § 158(b), and by the Labor Management Reporting and Disclosure Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 401, *et seq*. For unions to meet those requirements, getting just compensation for their services rendered becomes even more important.

V. THERE IS NO CONFLICT BETWEEN THE CIRCUIT COURT'S INTERPRETATION OF THE WEST VIRGINIA CONSTITUTION AND FEDERAL LABOR LAW.

¹¹ The State, of course, can cure the constitutional violation by paying the unions for their time expended on behalf of nonpaying bargaining unit members. That would truly reflect the State's commitment to promoting individual workers' freedom of association. The State, however, has opted for the cheaper alternative of, basically, requiring unions to provide its services without charging for them.

Even taking the Attorney General's rendition of federal preemption law as accurate (which requires a stretch), it is clear that no conflict – or even "tension" – exists between the circuit court's application of the West Virginia Constitution and federal labor law. Consequently, there is no federal preemption that precludes affirming the lower court's decision.

As noted above, and as conceded by the AG, § 8(a)(3) of the NLRA, 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(3), specifically authorizes employers and unions to enter into union shop contracts, which could require bargaining unit members to join a recognized union after thirty days of employment. Section 14(b), 29 U.S.C. § 164(b), then provides that nothing in the statute "shall be construed as authorizing the execution or application of agreements requiring membership in a labor organization as a condition of employment in any State or Territory in which such execution or application is prohibited by State or Territorial law." Whether that permission authorizes states to enact a law prohibiting contracts that require agency fees is a serious question of statutory interpretation. Assuming that § 14(b) can be stretched to permit agency fee bans, however, there is still no conflict between the circuit court's holding and federal law.

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